



Policy brief

Nature-based solutions and their socio-economic benefits for Europe's recovery

Enhancing the uptake of nature-based solutions across EU policies

Institute for European Environmental Policy



The Institute for European Environmental Policy (IEEP) is a sustainability think tank. Working with stakeholders across EU institutions, international bodies, academia, civil society and industry, our team of economists, scientists and lawyers produce evidence-based research and policy insight.

Our work spans nine research areas and covers both short-term policy issues and long-term strategic studies. As a not-forprofit organisation with over 40 years of experience, we are committed to advancing impact-driven sustainability policy across the EU and the world.

For more information about IEEP, visit <u>www.ieep.eu</u> or follow us on Twitter <u>@IEEP_eu</u> and <u>LinkedIn</u>.

DISCLAIMER

The arguments expressed in this report are solely those of the authors, and do not reflect the opinion of any other party.

THE REPORT SHOULD BE CITED AS FOLLOWS

Kopsieker L., Gerritsen E., Stainforth T., Lucic A., Costa Domingo G., Naumann S., Röschel L. and Davis Mc. (2021) "Nature-based solutions and their socio-economic benefits for Europe's recovery: Enhancing the uptake of nature-based solutions across EU policies". Policy briefing by the Institute for European Environmental Policy (IEEP) and the Ecologic Institute.

AUTHORS

Lisa Kopsieker, Erik Gerritsen, Thorfinn Stainforth, Antoine Lucic, Giulia Costa Domingo (IEEP), Sandra Naumann, Lina Röschel and McKenna Davis (Ecologic Institute)



This work has been produced with the financial support of the LIFE Programme of the European Union. The paper reflects only the views of its authors and not the donors.

IEEP main office Rue Joseph II 36-38, 1000 Brussels, Belgium Tel: +32 (0) 2738 7482 Fax: +32 (0) 2732 4004 London office 11 Belgrave Road IEEP Offices, Floor 3 London, SW1V 1RB Tel: +44 (0) 20 7799 2244



About this policy brief

This policy brief provides an overview of the socio-economic benefits that nature-based solutions (NbS) can deliver, alongside supporting the achievement of the EU's climate and biodiversity objectives.

The brief describes the obstacles that have prevented the full integration of NbS into EU policy and suggests key tools to enhance the cross-sectoral implementation of NbS and foster synergies between the biodiversity and climate agendas.



CONTENTS

Background/Context	2
Nature-based solutions, an important source of jobs	4
Climate Adaptation and Nature-based Solutions	7
Disaster risk reduction	7
Resilient cities	7
Water management	7
Food security	8
Public health and nature-based solutions	9
Mitigating pollution	9
Promoting healthier lifestyles	9
Improved mental health	9
Integrating nature-based solutions into EU policy	11
Key tools to enhance the uptake of nature-based solutions	
and thereby deliver significant socio-economic benefits	12
References	14

1. BACKGROUND/CONTEXT

On 06 May 2019, the most comprehensive global assessment on the state of biodiversity to date reconfirmed how nature's unprecedented decline is a global emergency on par with climate change (IPBES, 2019). Two weeks later, voters in the European election strongly converged on political manifestos that supported bolder EU action to fight planetary degradation. Recent evidence on the state of biodiversity in the EU however confirmed that while the EU met its 20% emissions reduction target for 2020, those on biodiversity were largely missed (EEA, 2020b; IPBES, 2018b; Maes *et al.*, 2020). Recent assessments¹ confirm the large gap remaining to meet the agreed biodiversity targets. Reaching the new 2030 climate targets will also require a significant increase in eco-system-based mitigation, particularly from Land Use, Land Use Change and Forestry (LULUCF). In 2021, both

¹ E.g., SOER report; Mapping and Assessment of Ecosystems and their Services: An EU wide ecosystem assessment in support of the EU biodiversity strategy; The IPBES regional assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services for Europe and Central Asia

UNFCCC COP26 and UN CBD COP15 will set new strategic frameworks for climate and biodiversity, in which it will be critical to the keep the 2030 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) in sight.

The EU and its Member States are committed to achieving the SDGs by 2030, including targets on climate action and protecting life on land and at sea. The implementation of these goals is highly interdependent, not least as climate change is a direct negative driver of ecosystem change with important knock-on effects on human well-being (IPBES, 2019). The degradation of land and marine ecosystems worldwide already undermines the well-being of at least 3.2 billion people and costs about 10% of annual global GDP in loss of ecosystem services (IPBES, 2018a). On the other hand, there is a growing awareness of the important role that healthy ecosystems can play in mitigating climate change and supporting adaptation that reduces its environmental, social and economic impacts. For example, the UN estimates that ecosystem restoration could remove between 13 to 26 gigatons (for comparison China emits roughly 10 gigatons annually) of greenhouse gases from the atmosphere and generate USD 9 trillion in ecosystem services by 2030². This awareness is not new and was already central to the 1992 Earth Summit from which both the UN conventions on biodiversity and climate change originated³.

The 2030 global and EU commitments for sustainable development, climate action and biodiversity all point to the urgent need for ecosystem restoration. NbS at different scales can provide cost-effective, win-win solutions in a post-COVID-19 recovery by providing employment, and multiple public health and wellbeing benefits. The EU can take a number of important steps to help unlock the use of NbS in Europe and around the world.

Box 1: Definitions of nature-based solutions

The European Commission (European Commission, 2015) defines naturebased solutions as 'Solutions that are inspired and supported by nature, which are cost-effective, simultaneously provide environmental, social and economic benefits and help build resilience. Such solutions bring more, and more diverse, nature and natural features and processes into

³ United Nations Conference on Environment and Development, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, 3-14 June 1992. <u>https://www.un.org/en/conferences/environment/rio1992</u>

² New UN Decade on Ecosystem Restoration offers unparalleled opportunity for job creation, food security and addressing climate change

cities, landscapes and seascapes, through locally adapted, resource-efficient and systemic interventions.' This definition was recently amended by the following: 'Nature-based solutions must therefore benefit biodiversity and support the delivery of a range of ecosystem services.'

IUCN defines nature-based solutions as 'actions to protect, sustainably manage, and restore natural or modified ecosystems that address societal challenges effectively, and adaptively, simultaneously providing human well-being and biodiversity benefits.' (IUCN, 2020)

2. NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS, AN IMPORTANT SOURCE OF JOBS

The unprecedented economic crisis arising from the COVID-19 pandemic makes the creation of jobs an urgent priority. Globally, 1.2 billion jobs in sectors such as farming, fisheries, forestry and tourism are already dependent on the effective management and sustainability of healthy ecosystems. (ILO, 2020) NbS can be used to can sustain or enhance the jobs and productivity of those working in these sectors.

The socio-economic benefits created by NbS, make these cost-effective solutions to address multiple societal challenges while generating economic opportunities and employment. NbS, such as greening cities, can make areas more attractive to new investors, residents and visitors (Faivre et al., 2017), while creating new green jobs in a variety of sectors (WWF and International Labour Organization, 2020). Nature-based activities such as afforestation, agroforestry, the creation of green spaces and management of protected parks and areas can all generate a wide range of jobs from low-skill entry level to high-skill jobs (Raymond et al., 2017). For example, the Natura 2000 protected area network is estimated to provide 4.4 million jobs. Another famous example is the largest restoration project in Europe, Emscher Landscape park in Germany, which in almost 20 years has generated an estimated 85,892 jobs (WWF and International Labour Organization, 2020). Studies have shown that NbS projects, for example coastal habitat protection, have the potential to produce many more jobs per investment than traditional infrastructure projects such as in coal, gas and nuclear power generation. (Edwards et al., 2013; Garrett-Peltier and Pollin, 2009) The ILO has produced a report on the intensity of jobs created for different types of NbS investments. (ILO, 2020)

In addition to creating jobs, NbS can significantly reduce costs to governments and individuals. For example, the health benefits of NbS can decrease the financial burden on health services (Robinson and Breed, 2019). Given the cost of air pollution and poor mental health are estimated to be around €166 billion and €600 billion respectively a year, these savings could be considerable (Delft, 2020; Charveriat *et al.*, 2021).

NbS can also help to achieve social and environmental justice goals, which is high on the European agenda, especially amidst the COVID-19 pandemic, which has highlighted existing inequities. For example, NbS can reduce health inequalities by ensuring a fair distribution of health benefits from green spaces which are especially important for vulnerable communities who are disproportionately impacted by chronic health conditions and have lower access to green spaces (Raymond *et al.*, 2017). Jobs from NbS can also be deployed throughout the territory, including in marginal and economically disadvantaged regions, and particularly in areas which are particularly vulnerable to climate change as these hotspots will need additional investment to adapt to climate change.

Case study 1: Zagreb's public space greening project - *Nature's solutions to unemployment*

In 2005, the city of Zagreb in Croatia launched an education and training programme aimed at **reducing unemployment while maintaining its green spaces.** Zagreb has a number of parks, such as Medvednica and Park Maksimir, which require significant resources and skills to preserve and clean. The programme trains long-term unemployed people to work full-time maintaining green spaces in exchange for free training programmes on a range of skills that can help them re-enter the local labour market. Participants can choose courses ranging from high school education to vocational training in areas like health, construction, office administration and catering.

From 2005-2015, **over 3,000 unemployed people** have participated in the programme with around 30% subsequently finding employment. This has helped with **poverty reduction** and has **increased motivation and self-confidence** amongst participants. Through the project, around 300 people were annually involved in maintaining green public spaces and removing illegally disposed waste from forests, lawns and waterbodies which has become an important threat to biodiversity in the region. As such, the programme effectively shows how solutions like nature preservation in cities can deliver important social benefits through reskilling.

Source: https://citiesatwork.eu/images/green jobs for social inclusion_FINAL.pdf

Case study 2: HYDROUSA – Nature's solutions to water scarcity

HYDROUSA is an EU Horizon 2020 Innovation action project which promotes regenerative, nature-based solutions to water scarcity. Taking inspiration from nature, they develop innovative approaches to help the Mediterranean and other water-scarce regions develop **circular water management and treatment models which simultaneously boost their local economies**.

This nature-based project started in 2018 and brings together 28 partners from a range of different groups including research institutions, water utilities, NGOs, companies and municipalities.

Their innovative solutions will be implemented in six demonstration sites on three Greek islands:

- Lesbos. Here, natural anaerobic processes and constructed wetlands will be used to treat household sewage in a completely circular system where all by-products can be re-used. Biogas will be used to fuel cars, sludge will be used as fertiliser and clean water will then be used to irrigate agricultural land. Some of this nutrient-rich wastewater will then be used to maintain a rich agroforestry ecosystem so that a variety of products, from forestry trees for food and timber to superfoods for essential oils, can be cultivated with no fertiliser input.
- Mykonos. Here, two rainwater harvesting systems will be used: one in a remote area to cultivate oregano and another in a residential area to collect rainwater from rooftops to meet household water needs, recharge groundwater stores and irrigate lavender fields.
- Tinos. Here, a desalination system will be created which mimics mangrove plants to produce salt and irrigate crops. On another part of the island, an array of nature-based solutions will be designed to upgrade an eco-tourism facility and make it self-sufficient in meeting its own energy, water and food needs.

The solutions showcased by these islands can be modified to fit the local needs of others. In fact, 26 more islands around the world and are planning to join the project and adopt their own circular, nature-based, water solutions.

Learn more at: <u>https://www.hydrousa.org/</u>

3. CLIMATE ADAPTATION AND NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS

In the face of climate change, which is already increasing both the frequency and strength of some future extreme weather events (Forzieri *et al.*, 2016), NbS can significantly contribute to disaster risk reduction (DRR), improve water management and contribute to long-term food security.

3.1 Disaster risk reduction

Natural hazards can be triggered or amplified when natural processes are changed or deregulated. NbS can restore and stabilise these, thereby decreasing the risk and intensity of disasters. For example, nature-based solutions can reduce the risk from flooding and flash floods through improving storm water management and watershed restoration, which in turn lowers the risk of rivers flooding and run-off into sewage systems (Raymond et al., 2017). Restoring coastal ecosystems, can increase coastal area resilience to storms, coastal flooding, storm surges and coastal erosion (Seddon et al., 2020). Additionally, nature-based solutions are often cheaper than traditional hard engineering approaches such as dykes, dams, storm barriers and sea walls (Debele et al., 2019). This traditional "grey" infrastructure is usually very specialized and not very versatile, so changing environmental conditions and levels of disaster risk present a major challenge to these measures, as well as a budgetary risk to managing authorities. NbS cannot replace grey infrastructure but rather should be integrated with it so that more traditional methods of disaster risk management are complemented or enhanced. (European Commission, 2015)

3.2 Resilient cities

Beyond DRR, NbS can make cities more resilient and habitable in the face of future climate change. Urban vegetation, particularly tree cover, can help to cool the air through evaporation while simultaneously providing shade helping to mitigate the urban heat island effect. In addition, studies have generally shown urban trees provide significant direct economic and well-being benefits, not to mention enhanced biodiversity, water conservation and climate change mitigation. (Song *et al*, 2018)

3.3 Water management

Creating green spaces and water bodies within cities, or conserving existing ones, can increase water availability through increased filtration, evapotranspiration and storage and can increase water quality by removing harmful chemicals (Oral *et al.*, 2020). NbS have also been used to increase the efficiency and circularity of water systems, bringing down water production costs (Oral *et al.*, 2020).

3.4 Food security

NbS in agriculture can simultaneously protect nature and increase productivity through innovations in agroecology and ecological intensification. These solutions can replace man-made inputs, such as fertilisers and pesticides, by improving the delivery of natural ones like natural pest control, pollination, water quality regulation and enhanced soil fertility (Maes and Jacobs, 2015).

Box 2: RECONECT – Nature's solutions to disaster resilience

RECONECT is a project using nature-based solutions to reduce natural hazard risk across Europe. Running from 2018-2023, RECONECT aims to create and support several projects championing solutions which can be up scaled and replicated. Two of these effectively **illustrate the po-tential of nature-based solutions to increase disaster resilience while creating a range of co-benefits**:

- 1. **Seden Strand, Denmark**. This area threatened by sea level rise putting 142 private homes and 66ha of agricultural land at high risk of flooding. Moreover, it is part of the Natura2000 network as it is home to a many of important bird and some toad species. By promoting the natural rehabilitation of salt meadows, the project will simultaneously protect people, crops and habitats while improving access to nature.
- 2. **Portofino Natural Park, Italy**. This area's unique landscapes are increasingly threatened by extreme rainfall events, flash floods and mudslides. To increase resilience against these, interventions that regenerate natural processes, such as re-forestation and natural engineering, are being implemented. In addition to protecting cultural heritage and real estate, these solutions have also reduced injuries from slipping in the park, helped integrate nature and climate change adaptation in planning, and improved collaboration between park authorities and other local stakeholders.

Learn more at: <u>http://www.reconect.eu/about-reconect/</u>

4. PUBLIC HEALTH AND NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS

Nature-based solutions can have substantial positive implications for public health and well-being. Not only by mitigating air and noise pollution, but also by providing additional benefits for mental health and promoting healthier lifestyles.

4.1 Mitigating pollution

Air pollution for example, can cause serious respiratory and cardiovascular diseases and leads to at least 400,000 premature deaths in EEA-39 (excluding Turkey) every year (EEA, 2020a). Green infrastructure and vegetation can mitigate this risk by directly increasing air quality, through capturing, dispersing and depositing air pollutants (Raymond *et al.*, 2017). Green spaces can create oases of better air quality in highly polluted areas such as cities allowing citizens to reduce their exposure to harmful chemicals (ten Brink *et al.*, 2016).

4.2 Promoting healthier lifestyles

Nature-based solutions, like urban green spaces can encourage citizens to be more physically active, which can reduce obesity and the risk of chronic diseases such as cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes, reduce obesity and improve mental health (ten Brink *et al.*, 2016). Green spaces, especially in cities, have also been linked to reduced stress levels which can help reduce stress-linked conditions such as cardiovascular disease, infections and depression. The need for physical distancing during the pandemic has highlighted the importance of access to these areas in proximity to people's homes. Such spaces have provided a critical outlet for people in the relative safety of the outdoors to exercise and pursue recreational activities outside of their homes. Spending time in nature also increases exposure to microorganisms that are important to strengthening the immune system (Robinson and Breed, 2019).

4.3 Improved mental health

Access to nature can help reduce anxiety, depression and loneliness (Gascon et al, 2018.). Protected areas, for example, can deliver important mental health benefits to visitors, which have been valued at EUR 5.5 trillion per year globally (Buckley *et al.*, 2019). NbS reduce negative mental health outcomes including dementia, psychosis, neurosis and childhood behavioural disorders (Charveriat *et al.*, 2021).

The vital role of nature in achieving the economic policy objectives of the EU is recognised in the EUs Green Infrastructure Strategy. Nevertheless, few frameworks exist for acknowledging and assessing the value of co-benefits from nature-based solutions and guiding cross-sectoral project and policy design and implementation. This is a missed opportunity as recognising the co-benefits of NbS can help optimise their design to simultaneously contribute to important socio-economic goals which will make them attractive to a broader range of stakeholders (Giordano et al., 2020).

One problem in the past has been a lack of clear quantitative data on the costs and benefits of NbS. However, recent research and assessments show that NbS are very often highly cost-effective measures for climate adaptation and disaster risk reduction, particularly when the many co-benefits are considered. (Reguero et al, 2018)

NbS measures require more—and mostly privately owned—land, and more diverse stakeholder involvement than traditional (grey) engineering and infrastructure approaches to disaster risk management. They may thus require a more proactive, integrated stakeholder engagement to implement successfully. This is a challenge, especially on the larger scale which is required for the most successful deployment of NbS measures. This is an area where EU led capacity building and knowledge sharing would be useful and effective.

Case study 3: Barcelona's sustainable urban planning – *Nature's solutions to urban challenges*

Barcelona is a highly populated Spanish city and a popular tourist destination facing many common urban challenges including air pollution and increased temperatures and extreme weather events. To help tackle some of these challenges, several projects such as the City of Barcelona's Green Infrastructure Biodiversity Plan 2020, the Trees Master Plan 2016-2035 and 'Pla Buits', have implemented a range of naturebased solutions across the city. Cumulatively, these projects:

- Increased **street trees** which made the city more **attractive**, improved **wellbeing** and **reduced the heat-island effect** in the city.
- Created green corridors which **increased mobility and physical exercise** by enhancing cycling paths and increased storm water retention leading to **de-creased flood risk**.
- Protected the peri-urban forest which **decreased air pollution**, and **improved access to green spaces** where citizens can do sports and other activities.
- Maintained hybrid dunes which increased **protection against sea level rise** and floods and made the city's **coastline more attractive**.

 Promoted urban gardens which improved local food supply, improved wellbeing, social cohesion, and integration through community activities and restored vacant areas.

These solutions also contributed to **climate adaptation and biodiversity goals** by increasing CO2 sequestration and creating and maintaining ecosystems. Moreover, new governance systems and platforms were created to promote **stakeholder participation and cross-sector collaboration**.

Learn more at: <u>https://oppla.eu/casestudy/117</u>; <u>http://www.openness-pro-ject.eu/node/81</u>

5. INTEGRATING NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS INTO EU POLICY

There is significant potential to integrate NbS into EU policies as well as wider sectoral legislation, and thereby generate opportunities to increase the scale and scope of benefits that NbS can provide. However, only a third of the policies in the European environmental and climate legislative framework either explicitly or implicitly strongly support NbS (Davis *et al.*, 2018).

There are various bottlenecks within the EU policy framework and its implementation that have hindered large-scale uptake of nature-based solutions and the mainstreaming of biodiversity as an agent to reach climate goals:

- **Implementation delays** of EU Directives, in particular the nature directives, Water Framework Directive and Marine Strategy Framework Directive.
- Lack of mainstreaming across associated policy realms and conflicting agendas. This includes a lack of coherence among relevant environmental and sectoral policies at the EU level in terms of wording, monitoring requirements and financing instruments, which has led to fragmented governance arrangements offering limited leeway to address climate issues through innovative naturecentred approaches (Davis *et al.*, 2018). Silo thinking misses the complementary values that a focus on nature-based solutions could offer to the EU climate agenda (Tozer and Xie, 2020).
- Although the benefits of biodiversity and ecosystem services are well known, there is a **lack of centralized and comparable data** quantifying these benefits into monetary figures. This limits the popularity of financing restoration and nature-based solutions (Credit Suisse Group AG and McKinsey Center for Business and Environment, 2016; Ding *et al.*, 2017).

- The non-binding nature of several relevant policies (e.g. target 2 of the EU Biodiversity Strategy for 2020, the EU Adaptation Strategy, the Green Infrastructure Strategy) have resulted in shortcomings across sectors in the design and application of policy instruments for the active restoration of ecosystems (Naumann, Röschel and Davis, 2018).
- The lack of binding commitment and effective mainstreaming also have knock-on effects on the implementation of the EU's integrated model for biodiversity and climate investment. Inadequate biodiversity and climate proofing of national and regional plans, as well as tracking of actual investment, has been inadequate to address the investment gap (Forster *et al.*, 2017; Kettunen *et al.*, 2017; Nesbit *et al.*, 2020).

Nevertheless, the European Green Deal provides an improved research, policy and action framework to mobilise implementation and improve financing for naturebased solutions at the necessary large scales⁴. Especially the EU Biodiversity Strategy for 2030, the Farm to Fork Strategy and the new Adaptation Strategy have significant potential to strengthen and mainstream nature-based solutions delivering biodiversity and climate targets.

6. KEY TOOLS TO ENHANCE THE UPTAKE OF NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS AND THEREBY DELIVER SIGNIFICANT SOCIO-ECONOMIC BENEFITS

- Accelerate implementation of key EU legal commitments delivering on nature-based solutions, through the nature directives, Water Framework Directive and Marine Strategy Framework Directive. In the case of EU Member States, it would mainly require higher and more targeted investment that meets the identified public investment needs. The Commission should invest in sufficient operational capacity to fulfil more actively its role as guardian of the Treaty and where necessary promote implementation and enforcement.
- 2. Adopt ambitious EU legislation for mandatory ecosystem restoration that does not undermine the above-mentioned implementation commitments but builds on and complements them with the *legally binding* SMART (specific, measurable, attainable, relevant, and time-bound) targets and deadlines for:

⁴ <u>https://www.iucn.org/news/ecosystem-management/202012/european-green-deal-well-aligned-fast-track-action-nature-based-solutions-says-iucn</u>

- a) achieving the favourable conservation status of habitats and species covered by the nature directives;
- b) increasing progress on other commitments under current legislation such as flood risk management under the Floods Directive, resilience in fishing, farming and forestry under the Common Fisheries Policy and Common Agricultural Policy, priority protection and restoration of carbon-rich ecosystems under the Land use, Land-Use Change, and Forestry regulation; and
- c) National Nature Restoration Plans. A general target based on percentage land/sea area restored should be avoided, as this would probably result in restoration focusing on the lowest cost options, which would not necessarily provide the best value for money in terms of public environmental, social and economic benefits.
- 3. **Boost investment for nature-based solutions** including by improving biodiversity proofing and tracking of all relevant EU and national investment to be able to more precisely and regularly assess progress of integrated funding against identified needs and intermediate objectives and take additional action where necessary to keep on track on 2030 commitments. Most urgently, concrete action should be taken to better:
 - a) Use public investment as leverage for more and better private investment in NbS, by quickly adopting clear thresholds and criteria for economic activities that substantially contribute to protecting and restoring biodiversity and ecosystems, and cause no significant harm, following the Taxonomy Regulation.
 - b) Integrate biodiversity commitments in the post-COVID-19 response, such as setting biodiversity spending targets for COVID-19 stimulus measures and recovery plans, including the Recovery and Resilience Facility (RRF), to scale up investment in ecosystem restoration, linking environmental conditionality to bailouts to drive sustainability improvements, and foster cross-sectoral and international collaboration to safeguard biodiversity and restore critical ecosystems.
 - c) Integrate biodiversity commitments with EU climate policy and investment and its implementation in EU Member States, in particular through making nature-based solutions a central pillar of the new EU Adaptation Strategy and ensuring its alignment with national, regional and local strategies and prioritizing the greenhouse gas emissions reductions of new restoration commitments in revised National Energy

and Climate Plans (NECPs) to ensure they are prioritised and eligible for funding and avoid perverse measures e.g. in incentivising increased biomass use.

d) Increase the prioritisation of the use of European Structural and Investment Funds (e.g. in CAP Strategic Plans) towards biodiversity objectives, especially where they provide other social and economic benefits through nature-based solutions.

Case study 4: Zeche Zollverein – Nature's solutions and green transitions

Zollverein is a former coal mine near the city of Essen in Germany. Since its industrial activities stopped in 1993, the site was abandoned allowing natural vegetation to start reappearing. Due to its impressive infrastructure, the site was designated as a UNESCO World Heritage Site in 2001. After that, a master plan was created to redevelop the area focused on designing space for leisure which integrated nature and post-industrial heritage. Through this, the complex was successfully converted into a multifunctional cultural, entertainment and touristic centre attracting over **2 million visitors every year**. This attracted green commerce and innovation to the area creating over **1,000 jobs and 170 enterprises**. Simultaneously, key habitats for endangered species were created and protected leading to increased biodiversity in the former industrial site including the return of the endangered peregrine falcon. In addition, walkways and green spaces were created and natural tours organised giving visitors an opportunity to connect with nature and experience its multiple benefits.

Learn more at: https://naturvation.eu/nbs/essen/derelict-area-transformation

More possible examples at:

- <u>https://naturvation.eu/search/node/jobs?page=5</u>
- <u>http://www.zaragoza.es/contenidos/medioambi-</u> ente/life/acta_lifehuerta_2014-03-19.pdf
- <u>http://growgreenproject.eu/city-actions/valencia/</u>

7. REFERENCES

Buckley, R., Brough, P., Hague, L., Chauvenet, A., Fleming, C., Roche, E., Sofija, E. and Harris, N. (2019) 'Economic value of protected areas via visitor mental health', *Nature Communications*, 10(1), pp. 5005.

Charveriat, C., Brzeziński, B., Filipova, T. and Ramírez, O. (2021) *Mental health and the environment: Bringing nature back into people's lives*. Available at: <u>https://ieep.eu/uploads/articles/attachments/c2cc2d58-d8a0-4dee-b45e-57a7dfa2620d/Mental%20health%20and%20environment%20pol-icy%20brief%20(IEEP%20&%20ISGLOBAL%202021).pdf?v=63778955421.</u>

Credit Suisse Group AG and McKinsey Center for Business and Environment (2016) *Conservation finance : from niche to mainstream : the building of an institutional asset class*: IUCN. Available at: <u>https://portals.iucn.org/li-</u> <u>brary/node/45815</u>.

Davis, M., Abhold, K., Mederake, L. and Knoblauch, D. (2018) *Nature-based solutions in European and national policy frameworks*: European Commission, 50 pp.Deliverable 1.5, NATURVATION. Horizon 2020 Grant Agreement No 730243). Available at: <u>https://www.ecologic.eu/sites/files/publication/2018/naturvation_report_1_5_final_110618.pdf</u>.

Debele, S. E., Kumar, P., Sahani, J., Marti-Cardona, B., Mickovski, S. B., Leo, L. S., Porcù, F., Bertini, F., Montesi, D., Vojinovic, Z. and Di Sabatino, S. (2019) 'Naturebased solutions for hydro-meteorological hazards: Revised concepts, classification schemes and databases', *Environmental Research*, 179, pp. 108799.

Delft (2020) *Health costs of air pollution inEuropean cities and the linkage with transport*: CE Delft. Available at: <u>https://epha.org/wp-content/up-</u>loads/2020/10/final-health-costs-of-air-pollution-in-european-cities-and-the-linkage-with-transport.pdf</u>.

Ding, H., Faruqi, S., Wu, A., Altamirano, J., Ortega, A. A., Cristales, R. Z., Chazdon, R., Vergara, W. and Verdone, M. (2017) *Roots of Prosperity-The Economics and Finance of Restoring Land*: WRI. Available at: <u>https://www.wri.org/publication/roots-of-prosperity#:~:text=Roots%20of%20Prosper-</u> <u>ity%3A%20The%20Economics%20and%20Finance%20of%20Restor-</u> <u>ing%20Land,-by%20Helen%20Ding&text=This%20report%20pro-</u> <u>vides%20a%20comprehensive,governments%20meet%20their%20restora-</u> <u>tion%20targets</u>. Edwards, P., Sutton-Grier, A. & Coyle, G. (2013) "Investing in nature: Restoring coastal habitat blue infrastructure and green job creation". Marine Policy, Vol. 38, pp. 65-71.

EEA (2020a) *Air quality in Europe — 2020 report*: European Environment Agency-EEA Report No 9/2020). Available at: <u>https://www.eea.europa.eu/publica-</u> <u>tions/air-quality-in-europe-2020-report</u>.

EEA (2020b) State of Nature in the EU: Results from reporting under the nature directives 2013-2018, Copenhagen: European Environment AgencyEEA Report No 10/2020). Available at: <u>https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/state-of-naturein-the-eu-2020</u>.

European Commission (2015) *Towards an EU research and innovation policy agenda for nature-based solutions & re-naturing cities*: DG Research and Innovation.Technical Report.). Available at: <u>https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/fb117980-d5aa-46df-8edc-af367cddc202</u>.

Faivre, N., Fritz, M., Freitas, T., de Boissezon, B. and Vandewoestijne, S. (2017) 'Nature-Based Solutions in the EU: Innovating with nature to address social, economic and environmental challenges', *Environmental Research*, 159, pp. 509-518.

Forster, D., Menadue, H., Tweed, J., Nesbit, M., Illes, A., Williams, R., Van der Laan, J. and Eichler, L. (2017) *Climate mainstreaming in the EU budget: preparing for the next MFF*, Brussels: Final report for European Commission DG CLIMA. Available at: <u>https://d1v9sz08rbysvx.cloudfront.net/ee/media/down-</u> <u>loads/ml0417844enn-en.pdf</u>.

Forzieri, G., Feyen, L., Russo, S., Vousdoukas, M., Alfieri, L., Outten, S., Migliavacca, M., Bianchi, A., Rojas, R. and Cid, A. (2016) 'Multi-hazard assessment in Europe under climate change', *Climatic Change*, 137(1), pp. 105-119.

Garrett-Peltier and Pollin, 2009. *How Infrastructure Investments Support the U.S. Economy: Employment, Productivity and Growth*, Political Economy Research Institute, January 2009.

Gascon, M., Triguero-Mas, M., Martínez, D., Dadvand, P., Forns, J., Plasència, A., & Nieuwenhuijsen, M. (2015). Mental Health Benefits of Long-Term Exposure to Residential Green and Blue Spaces: A Systematic Review. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 12(4), 4354–4379. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph120404354

Giordano, R., Pluchinotta, I., Pagano, A., Scrieciu, A. and Nanu, F. (2020) 'Enhancing nature-based solutions acceptance through stakeholders' engagement in co-benefits identification and trade-offs analysis', *Science of The Total Environment*, 713, pp. 136552.

IPBES (2018a) *The IPBES assessment report on land degradation and restoration*, Bonn, Germany: Secretariat of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem ServicesMontanarella, L., Scholes, R., and Brainich, A. (eds.)).

IPBES (2018b) *The IPBES regional assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services for Europe and Central Asia*, Bonn, Germany: Secretariat of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES) (ISBN No: 978-3-947851-08-9, Rounsevell, M., Fischer, M., Torre-Marin Rando, A. and Mader, A. (eds)). Available at: <u>https://www.ipbes.net/assessment-</u> <u>reports/eca</u>.

IPBES (2019) Summary for policymakers of the global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services, Bonn: IPBES secretariat. Available at: <u>https://www.ipbes.net/global-assessment-report-biodiversity-ecosystem-services</u>

IUCN (2020) *Nature-based solutions*: International Union for Nature Conservation. Available at: <u>https://www.iucn.org/commissions/commission-ecosystem-</u> <u>management/our-work/nature-based-solutions</u> (Accessed: 10/11/2020.

Kettunen, M., Illes, A., Rayment, M., Primmer, E., Verstraeten, Y., Rekola, A., Ring, I., Tucker, G., Baldock, D., Droste, N., Santos, R. S., Rantala, S., Ebrahim, N. and ten Brink, P. (2017) *Integration approach to financing of biodiversity: evaluation of results and analysis of options for the future*, Brussels / London: Institute for European Environmental PolicyFinal report for the European Commission (DG ENV) (Project ENV.B.3/ETU/2015/0014)). Available at: <u>https://ieep.eu/publica-tions/2017/04/integration-approach-to-eu-biodiversity-financing</u>.

Maes, J., A., T., Erhard, M., Condé, S., Vallecillo, S., Barredo, J. I., Paracchini, M. L., Abdul Malak, D., Trombetti, M., Vigiak, O., Zulian, G., Addamo, A. M., Grizzetti, B., Somma, F., Hagyo, A., Vogt, P., Polce, C., Jones, A., Marin, A. I., Ivits, E., Mauri, A., Rega, C., Czúcz, B., Ceccherini, G., Pisoni, E., Ceglar, A., De Palma, P., Cerrani, I., Meroni, M., Caudullo, G., Lugato, E., Vogt, J. V., Spinoni, J., Cammalleri, C., Bastrup-Birk, A., San Miguel, J., San Román, S., Kristensen, P., Christiansen, T., Zal, N., de Roo, A., Cardoso, A. C., Pistocchi, A., Del Barrio Alvarellos, I., Tsiamis, K., Gervasini, E., Deriu, I., La Notte, A., Abad Viñas, R., Vizzarri, M., Camia, A., Robert, N., Kakoulaki, G., Garcia Bendito, E., Panagos, P., Ballabio and C., S., S., Montanarella, L., Orgiazzi, A., Fernandez Ugalde, O., Santos-Martín, F (2020) *Mapping and Assessment of Ecosystems and their Services: An EU wide ecosystem* assessment in support of the EU biodiversity strategy, Brussels: European Commission (978-92-76-17833-0, EUR 30161 EN). Available at: <u>https://op.eu-</u> <u>ropa.eu/en-GB/publication-detail/-/publication/a84a0a68-0f65-11eb-bc07-</u> <u>01aa75ed71a1/language-en</u>.

Maes, J. and Jacobs, S. (2015) 'Nature-based solutions for Europe's Sustainable Development', *Conservation Letters*, 10(1), pp. 121-124.

Naumann, S., Röschel, L. and Davis, M. (2018) *City level policy and institutional frameworks - A supporting or hindering factor for green and blue infrastructure? Insights from five ENABLE cities. Task 2.3, ENABLE project.*: Ecologic Institute.

Nesbit, M., Stainforth, T., Hart, K., Underwood, E. and Becerra, G. (2020) *Documenting climate mainstreaming in the EU budget - making the system more transparent, stringent and comprehensive*, Brussels: Report by Institute for European Environmental Policy for European Parliament Think Tank. Available at: <u>https://www.europarl.europa.eu/thinktank/en/document.html?refer-</u> <u>ence=IPOL_STU(2020)654166</u>.

Oral, H. V., Carvalho, P., Gajewska, M., Ursino, N., Masi, F., Hullebusch, E. D. v., Kazak, J. K., Exposito, A., Cipolletta, G., Andersen, T. R., Finger, D. C., Simperler, L., Regelsberger, M., Rous, V., Radinja, M., Buttiglieri, G., Krzeminski, P., Rizzo, A., Dehghanian, K., Nikolova, M. and Zimmermann, M. (2020) 'A review of naturebased solutions for urban water management in European circular cities: a critical assessment based on case studies and literature', *Blue-Green Systems*, 2(1), pp. 112-136.

Raymond, C. M., Berry, P., Breil, M., Nita, M. R., Kabisch, N., de Bel, M., Enzi, V., Frantzeskaki, N., Geneletti, D., Cardinaletti, M., Lovinger, L., Basnou, C., Monteiro, A., Robrecht, H., Sgrigna, G., Munari, L. and Calfapietra, C. (2017) *An Impact Evaluation Framework to Support Planning and Evaluation of Nature-based Solutions Projects*, United Kingdom: EKLIPSE. Available at: <u>http://www.eklipse-mechanism.eu/apps/Eklipse_data/website/EKLIPSE_Report1-NBS_FINAL_Complete-08022017_LowRes_4Web.pdf</u>.

Reguero, B. G., Beck, M. W., Bresch, D. N., Calil, J., & Meliane, I. (2018). Comparing the cost effectiveness of nature-based and coastal adaptation: A case study from the Gulf Coast of the United States. PLOS ONE, 13(4), e0192132. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0192132

Robinson, J. M. and Breed, M. F. (2019) 'Green Prescriptions and Their Co-Benefits: Integrative Strategies for Public and Environmental Health', *Challenges*, 10(1). Seddon, N., Chausson, A., Berry, P., Girardin, C. A. J., Smith, A. and Turner, B. (2020) 'Understanding the value and limits of nature-based solutions to climate change and other global challenges', *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 375(1794), pp. 20190120.

Song, X. P., Tan, P. Y., Edwards, P., & Richards, D. (2018). The economic benefits and costs of trees in urban forest stewardship: A systematic review. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 29, 162–170. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2017.11.017</u>

ten Brink, P., Mutafoglu, K., Schweitzer, J.-P., Kettunen, M., Twigger-Ross, C., Kuipers, Y., Emonts, M., Tyrväinen, L., Hujala, T. and Ojala, A. (2016) *The Health and Social Benefits of Nature and Biodiversity Protection*, London/Brussels: Institute for European Environmental PolicyInitiative funded by the European Commission (ENV.B.3/ETU/2014/0039)). Available at: <u>http://ec.europa.eu/environ-ment/nature/pdf/Study%20on%20Health%20and%20Social%20Bene-fits%20of%20Nature%20and%20Biodiversity%20Protection.pdf</u>.

Tozer, L. and Xie, L. (2020) *Mainstreaming Nature-based Solutions-Climate Change. NATURVATION Guide.* Available at: <u>https://naturvation.eu/sys-tem/files/mainstreaming_nbs_for_climate_change.pdf</u>.

WWF and International Labour Organization (2020) *Nature Hires: How Naturebased Solutions can power a green jobs recovery*: WWF, ILO. Available at: <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_emp/documents/publica-</u><u>tion/wcms_757823.pdf</u>.

